IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

NO. 93-9007
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA, Pl ai ntiff-Appell ee,
ver sus
KERRY DEVAYNE LAURY, Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Northern District of Texas

(March 24, 1995)

Before SMTH, EM LIO M GARZA, and PARKER, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM

Def endant - Appel | ant Kerry Dewayne Laury ("Laury") appeals his
convi ction and sentence on five counts of obstruction of comerce
by robbery in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1951(a) and 2 ("Hobbs Act"),
and five counts of using and carrying a firearmduring a crine of
violence in violation of 18 U S.C. § 924(c)(1) and (2). W affirm

BACKGROUND

On Novenber 1, 1992, Laury was arrested and charged under
Texas | aw for arnmed robbery of a Mnyard's grocery store in Dallas.
On January 6, 1993, a federal grand jury returned an indictnent,
charging Laury and two co-defendants with two counts of violating
t he Hobbs Act by robbing grocery stores, and two counts of using a
firearmduring and in relation to the robberies. The indictnent

was superseded several tines, eventually charging six separate



robberi es as Hobbs Act violations, and six correspondi ng use-of - a-
firearm counts. The case was tried before a jury, and the jury
found Laury guilty of ten out of the twelve of fenses charged. The
trial court subsequently sentenced Laury to a total of 1071 nonths
i mprisonnment, three years supervised release, $13,104.00 in
restitution, and a $500. 00 speci al assessnent.
DOUBLE JEOPARDY

Laury argues that his convictions under 88 924(c)(1) and 1951
for a single robbery violate the Double Jeopardy C ause. Laury,
however, failed to raise this issue in the district court. Under
FED. R CRIM P. 52(b), we may correct forfeited errors only when t he
appel l ant shows the followng factors: (1) there is an error; (2)
that is clear or obvious; and (3) that affects his substantial
rights.! If these factors are established, the decision to correct
the forfeited error is within the sound discretion of the Court,
and will not be exercised unless the error seriously affects the
fairness, integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.?

W find that Laury cannot denonstrate error, plain or
ot herw se. This Court has held that nultiple convictions under
88 924(c)(1) and 1951 for a single robbery do not violate double
jeopardy. United States v. Martinez, 28 F.3d 444, 445-46 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, U S. , 115 S. . 281, 130 L.Ed.2d 197

! United States v. Calverley, 37 F.3d 160, 162-64 (5th GCr
1994) (en banc) (citing United States v. Qano, __ US |, 113
S.&t. 1770, 1776-79, 123 L.Ed.2d 508 (1993)), cert. denied 63
US LW 3643 (U.S. Feb. 27, 1995) (No. 94-7792).

2 (dano, 113 S.Ct. at 1778.
2



(1994). To the extent that Laury argues that United States v.
Di xon®* overrules Mssouri v. Hunter?, we find the argunent
irrelevant to the issue before us in this case. In Hunter, the
Suprene Court assuned that the nmultiple convictions failed the
Bl ockburger® "sane el enents" test, but determined that if there was
a clear indication of legislative intent to inpose cunulative
puni shments, the nultiple punishnments did not violate double
j eopardy. ® In Martinez, the Court determned that nultiple
convictions for 88 924(c)(1) and 1951 did not violate the
Bl ockburger test, and therefore Hunter was not controlling.’
GOVERNVENTAL M SCONDUCT

Laury argues that the district court inproperly denied his
motion to dismss the indictnent. He contends that follow ng his
arrest on federal charges in January 1993, FBI Agent Paul Shannon
("Agent Shannon") questioned him in violation of his Fifth
Amendnent right to due process and Sixth Anmendnent right to
effective assi stance of counsel, and that this conduct constituted
out rageous governnental m sconduct which could be renedi ed only by
dismssing the indictnent. Laury argues that suppression of the

st atenent obtained as a result of Agent Shannon's interrogati on was

3 US ., 113 S.Ct. 2849, 125 L.Ed.2d 556 (1993).

4 459 U S. 359, 103 S.Ct. 673, 74 L.Ed.2d 535 (1983).

5 Blockburger v. United States, 284 U S. 299, 52 S.Ct. 180,
76 L.Ed. 306 (1932).

6 459 U. S. at 368-69.
7 28 F.3d at 446.



an insufficient remedy because the Governnent could use the
statenent to inpeach himif he testified.

Laury was initially arrested on Novenber 1, 1992, and charged
in state court with two counts of robbery involving the Cctober 4
and Novenber 1, 1992 robberies. On Novenber 4, 1992, Agent Shannon
interrogated Laury, Gary Witson ("Watson") and Derrick Laury,
Laury's two co-defendants. On Novenber 11, 1992, attorney Martin
Smth ("Smth") was hired to represent Laury on the state charges,
who continued to represent Laury until January 20, 1993, when the
state charges were dropped.

On January 14, 1993, Laury was arrested by Agent Shannon and
charged in federal court wth tw Hobbs Acts violations and two
counts of using and carrying a firearmin relation to a crinme of
violence, arising from the October 4 and Novenber 1, 1992
robberies. At the tinme of Laury's arrest, Agent Shannon gave Laury
his Mranda warnings and Laury verbally waived his right to
counsel . Agent Shannon knew that Laury was on bond fromthe state
charges and that he was represented by counsel on those charges,
but he wanted to question Laury about his involvenent in the
addi tional robberies. Assistant United States attorney Paul
Macal uso (" Macal uso") was not infornmed, nor did he instruct anyone
to interrogate Laury at the tine of his arrest.

Laury noved to dismss the indictnment arguing that Agent
Shannon's conduct violated his Fifth and Si xth Arendnent rights to
counsel . Following a hearing, the district court found that

Macal uso did not act inproperly, but that Agent Shannon viol ated



Laury's Sixth Arendnent rights. The district court determ ned that
the appropriate renedy was to suppress the statenent.
Fi fth Amendnent

The Fifth Amendnent guarantees a defendant the right to
counsel during a custodial interrogation.® However, the defendant
must expressly invoke his Fifth Amendnent right. Laury orally
waived his Fifth Amendnent right to counsel, and his Sixth
Amendnent right to counsel on the state charges was insufficient to
i nvoke his Fifth Amendnent right on the federal charges.®
Si xt h Amendnent

The Sixth Anmendnent right to counsel attaches upon the
initiation of judicial proceedings.? Because Laury was under
indictnment at the tinme of his arrest, his Sixth Amendnent right to
counsel had attached to the charged offenses.! Once the Sixth

Amendnent right to counsel attaches, | aw enforcenent officials may

8 United States v. Carpenter, 963 F.2d 736, 739 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, __ US __ , 113 S.C. 355, 121 L.Ed.2d 269 (1992).

9 Carpenter, 963 F.2d at 739-40.

10 United States v. Cruz, 22 F.3d 96, 98 n.7 (5th Cr.),
cert. denied, U S __ , 115 S.Ct. 280, 130 L.Ed.2d 196 (1994).

11 The Sixth Armendnment applies only to the specific charged
of fense. Carpenter, 963 F.2d at 739. |f however, the charges to
whi ch the Sixth Arendnent right has been invoked and the new
charges are "inextricably intertwined," the Sixth Arendnent right
may extend to the new charges. Id. at 740. See United States v.
Cooper, 949 F.2d 737, 743-44 (5th Cr. 1991), cert. denied,
__uUSsS __, 112 S .. 2945, 119 L.Ed.2d 569 (1992). In this
case, the federal charges and state charges were identical, and
therefore the invocation of the Sixth Amendnent right on the
state charges was sufficient to invoke the right on the federa

char ges.



not initiate interviews in connection with the charged of fense. 2

"Cases involving Sixth Arendnent deprivations are subject to
the general rule that renedies should be tailored to the injury
suffered from the constitutional violation and should not
necessarily infringe on conpeting interests.” United States v.
Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 364, 101 S.Ct. 665, 66 L.Ed.2d 564 (1981).
If a Sixth Anendnent violation occurs, generally the renedy is to
suppress the evidence, not to dismss the indictnent. Id. at 365.
In the absence of denonstrable prejudice, or a substantial threat
of prejudice, dismssal of theindictnent is plainly inappropriate,
even if the violation was deliberate.®?

Laury argues that the suppression of the January 14, 1993
statenent was insufficient to renmedy the Sixth Arendnent viol ation
because the Governnment woul d have been able to use the uncounsel ed
statenent to i npeach his testinony if he had taken the stand in his
def ense. It is well established that the prosecution nmay use a
statenent obtained in violation of the Sixth Arendnent to inpeach
a defendant's false or inconsistent testinony.* W find Laury
cannot denonstrate prejudice warranting dism ssal because the

Gover nnent woul d have been able to i npeach himw th the statenent.

12 Carpenter, 963 F.2d at 734.
13 See United States v. Rodriguez, 948 F.2d 914, 916 (5th

Gir. 1991), cert. denied, __ US. __, 112 S.C. 2970, 119 L.Ed. 2d
590 (1992).

14 Bradford v. Witley, 953 F.2d 1008, 1010-11 (5th Gr.),
cert. denied, __ US. __, 113 S.Ct. 91, 121 L.Ed.2d 53 (1992).
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CONTI NUANCE

In a related argunent, Laury contends that the district court
abused its discretion by denying his notion for a continuance
Laury argues that the continuance was necessary to secure the
presence of Smth, his state attorney, and Fred Talkington
("Tal kington"), Derrick Laury's attorney, to establish the
conti nui ng harm caused by Agent Shannon's m sconduct.

W review the district court's denial of a notion for a
continuance for an abuse of discretion. United States v. Brito-
Her nandez, 996 F.2d 80, 83 (5th Cr. 1993). To obtain a reversa
t he defendant nust denonstrate "serious prejudice." |d.

Laury contends that Smth woul d have establi shed t hat Macal uso
knew Laury was represented by counsel on the state charges, and
that Tal ki ngton would have testified that Derrick Laury pleaded
guilty at least in part because of Laury's January 14, 1993
st at enent . W find that Laury cannot denobnstrate "serious
prejudi ce" because Smth was not present to testify. Agent
Shannon, who conducted the interrogation, testified that he knew
Laury was represented by counsel, and the district court determ ned
that a Sixth Anmendnent violation occurred and suppressed the
statenent. Smith's testinony would only have been cunul ative of
the evidence presented and woul d not have altered the result.

Cecil A Ray ("Ray"), counsel for Watson, testified that
Wat son's decision to plead guilty was not notivated by Laury's
st atenents. Ray stated that he had access to all of the

def endant s’ witten statenents, including Derrick Laury's



i ncul patory statenents, and was unaware that Laury had nmade an oral
statenent on January 14, 1993. There is no evidence in the record
to support Laury's contention that the Governnent told Derrick
Laury, but not Watson, about Laury's statenents, or that Derrick
Laury woul d have been nore influenced by Laury's statenents than
woul d Wt son. Addi tionally, Wtson, who was not influenced by
Laury's statenents, also testified against Laury.
SUFFI Cl ENCY OF THE EVI DENCE

Laury argues that there is insufficient evidence to support
his convictions in counts 4, 6, and 8. He contends that the
evidence is insufficient to establish that he knew that his
codef endants were carrying a firearmduring the comm ssi on of those
robberi es.

Laury failed to nove for a judgnent of acquittal at the close
of all the evidence, and neither the pleadings in the record nor
t he docket sheet reflect that any post-trial notions for acquittal
were filed by Laury. Therefore, the sufficiency-of-the-evidence
claimis reviewabl e only to determ ne whether there was a nmani f est
m scarriage of justice.? United States v. Shaw, 920 F. 2d 1225, 1230
(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 500 U. S. 926, 111 S.C. 2038, 114 L. Ed. 2d

1 I'n a recent decision, this Court questioned whether the
"m scarriage of justice" standard is distinguishable fromthe
"sufficiency of evidence" standard enployed if a defendant does
make a notion for acquittal at the conclusion of the trial. See
United States v. Pennington, 20 F.3d 593, 597 n.1 (5th G
1994). However, because only the Court sitting en banc can
reverse precedent, Laury's insufficiency claimnust be revi ewed
under the "m scarriage of justice" standard. See United States v.
Sias, No. 93-5475, at 3-4 & n.1 (5th CGr. Sept. 30, 1994)
(unpubl i shed).



122 (1991). "Such a m scarriage of justice would exist only if the
record is devoid of evidence pointing to guilt, or . . . because
the evidence on a key el enent of the offense was so tenuous that a
conviction would be shocking." United States v. Pierre, 958 F.2d
1304, 1310 (5th Gr.) (en banc) (internal quotations and citations
omtted), cert. denied, = US |, 113 S.C. 280, 121 L. Ed.2d 207
(1992).

In counts 4, 6, and 8, Laury was convicted of aiding and
abetting the use and carrying of a firearmduring the October 3, 4,
and 18, 1992 robberies. To establish an of fense under § 924(c) (1),
t he Governnent nust prove: "(1) that the defendant know ngly used
or carried a firearm and (2) the use or carrying of the firearm
occurred during and in relation to a crinme of violence." United
States v. Harris, 25 F.3d 1275, 1279 (5th Gr.), cert. denied
__US __, 115 S Ct. 458, 130 L.Ed.2d 366 (1994). To prove aidi ng
and abetting the Governnent nust show that Laury "(1) associated
wth the crimnal enterprise; (2) participated in the venture; and
(3) sought by action to nmake the venture succeed." |d.

Derrick Laury testified that before the OCctober 3, 1992
robbery Laury told him (Derrick Laury) that he did not have to
worry about a gun because Watson woul d do everything. Laury gave
a witten statenent in which he admtted know ng that WAtson was
carrying a firearmduring the Cctober 4, 1992 robbery. Watson and
Derrick Laury used a weapon during each robbery, and WAtson
testified that all of the robberies were conducted in the sane way.

Fromthis evidence the jury could infer that Laury knewthat WAtson



and Derrick Laury had a firearmduring the robberies. Therefore,
we find the evidence is sufficient to support his convictions on
counts 4, 6, and 8.
JURY | NSTRUCTI ONS

Laury al so argues that the district court inproperly refused
to give six requested jury instructions. The trial judge has
substantial latitude in fornulating the jury charge, and we revi ew
the district court's refusal to give a requested jury instruction
for an abuse of discretion. United States v. Aggarwal, 17 F.3d 737,
745 (5th Cr. 1994). The Court may reverse only if the requested
instruction "(1) is substantially correct; (2) was not
substantially covered in the <charge actually given; and
(3) concerns an inportant point such that failure to give it
seriously inpaired the defendant's ability to effectively present
a given defense.” Id. W wll reverse only if the defendant was
i nproperly denied an opportunity to convey his case to the jury.?®

Laury introduced alibi evidence, and he requested that the
district court give an requested jury instruction. The district
court did not give the alibi instruction, but did instruct the jury
that the jury was required to weigh the evidence and judge the
credibility of the witnesses. Laury enphasized the alibi evidence
during closing argunent. Although argunent al one cannot suffice

for jury instruction, a determ nati on of the adequacy of the charge

1 United States v. Hudson, 982 F.2d 160, 162 (5th Cir.),
cert. denied, __ US. __ , 114 S.C. 100, 126 L.Ed.2d 67 (1993).
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nust be nade in the context of the full trial. The general jury
instruction, taken with Laury's cl osing argunent, was sufficient to
pl ace the ali bi defense before the jury, and the district court did
not commt reversible error by failing to give the requested
i nstruction.

Laury al so requested that the district court instruct the jury
on substance abuse by a wtness. Laury introduced evidence at
trial that Watson had a substance abuse problem Al t hough the
district court did not give the requested instruction, once again
the jury was given the general credibility/weight of the evidence
instruction, and Laury was able to argue the point to the jury.
The argunment was presented to the jury, and Laury cannot
denonstrate reversible error.!®

Laury requested jury instructions on inpeachnment by prior
i nconsi stent statenents; co-defendant plea agreenents; single
defendant, multiple counts; and ai di ng and abetting.® Although the
district court did not use the |anguage requested, the court did
instruct the jury on each of these theories. Therefore, we find

that the requested instructions were "substantially covered" in the

7 United States v. lvey, 949 F.2d 759, 765 (5th Cr.
1991), cert. denied, __ US _ , 113 S.Ct. 64, 121 L.Ed.2d 32
(1992).

18 See Hudson, 982 F.2d at 162; lvey, 949 F.2d at 765.

19 The Governnent argues that this Court should reviewthe
aiding and abetting instruction for plain error because Laury did
not object to the instruction in the district court. However,
the district court stated for the record that Laury objected to
the charge insofar as it was different fromhis requested charge.
Hi s objection was preserved for appeal.

11



charge and there was no reversible error.
CONCLUSI ON
For the reasons articulated above, Laury's conviction and

sent ence are AFFI RVED
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